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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------- x 
  : 
MONTAUK JUICE FACTORY INC., : 
THE END BROOKLYN,  : 
  : 
 Plaintiffs, : Civ.      1:17-cv-02678 
  : 
 v. : COMPLAINT 
  : 
STARBUCKS CORPORATION d/b/a : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
STARBUCKS COFFEE COMPANY : 
  : 

 Defendant. : 
--------------------------------------------------------------- x 
 
 Plaintiff Montauk Juice Factory Inc. (“Montauk Juice”), owners of co-plaintiff The End 

Brooklyn (“The End,” collectively “Plaintiffs”), by and through their attorneys, bring this action 

against Starbucks Corporation d/b/a Starbucks Coffee Company (“Starbucks” or “Defendant”), 

and allege, upon personal knowledge of their own acts and status and upon information and 

belief as to all other matters, as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is an action seeking to hold Defendant accountable for infringing, diluting, 

and otherwise diminishing the value of Plaintiffs’ intellectual property.  Starbucks’ decision to 

launch, promote, and sell a product called a “Unicorn Frappuccino” (a “flavor-changing, color-

changing, totally not-made-up” product, according to Defendant’s website) infringed on 

Plaintiffs’ distinctive and famous trademark in the name UNICORN LATTE, a name that 

Plaintiffs have used since last year to refer to their own popular colorful beverage.  The size of 

and scope of Starbucks’ product launch was designed so that the Unicorn Frappuccino would 

eclipse the Unicorn Latte in the market, thereby harming Plaintiffs and confusing their 
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customers.  In addition to having a highly similar name, Starbucks’ Unicorn Frappuccino shares 

visual similarities to the Unicorn Latte in that both were brightly colored and featured the colors 

pink and blue prominently, the below diagram reflects an advertisement for the Unicorn Latte on 

the left and the Unicorn Frappuccino on the right: 

  

Unicorn Latte Unicorn Frappuccino 

2. The End began selling the Unicorn Latte in December 2016.  Despite the 

distinctive name, the Unicorn Latte contained no coffee or milk and was instead a freshly-made 

blended beverage containing fresh ingredients such as cold-pressed ginger, lemon juice, dates, 

cashews, blended with additional healthy, dried ingredients such as maca root, blue-green algae, 

and vanilla bean.   

3. In December 2016, the Unicorn Latte began appearing in articles published by 

both traditional and online media outlets, including in the New York Times, the Huffington Post, 

and TimeOut Magazine.  The press, coupled with advertising efforts and broad social media 
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exposure on Facebook and Instagram (via the hashtag #unicornlatte), made the Unicorn Latte 

name and product famous.   

4. To capitalize on and protect their rights in a successful and popular product, 

Plaintiffs applied to register the name “UNICORN LATTE” with the United States Patent and 

Trademark Office (“USPTO”).  Specifically, Plaintiffs filed a TEAS Plus Application with the 

USPTO on January 20, 2017; a copy is attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The pending application 

was and is publicly accessible on the USPTO’s website. 

5. On April 17, 2017, Starbucks began selling and aggressively marketing a new 

blended beverage product called the “Unicorn Frappuccino”.  Like Plaintiffs’ product, the 

Unicorn Frappuccino contains no coffee, despite the name.  However, while the Unicorn Latte is 

a blend of fresh juices and healthy ingredients, the Unicorn Frappuccino is a concoction of milk, 

artificial sweeteners, color additives, and pinches of fruit juice concentrate for flavor.  At no 

point prior to developing, marketing, and launching its product did Starbucks approach Plaintiffs 

for permission to use a name deceptively similar to Unicorn Latte. 

6. Starbucks has more than 13,000 stores in the United States and approximately 

2,000 stores in Canada and Mexico.  Starbucks’ massive and public launch of the Unicorn 

Frappuccino across North America meant that its product became the dominant “Unicorn” 

beverage overnight.  The press immediately publicized the product and Starbucks’ sophisticated 

social media apparatus ensured that Unicorn Frappuccinos became a viral sensation on 

Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram.   

7. This, in turn, immediately caused consumer confusion whereby customers began 

referring to Starbucks’ product as a “Unicorn Latte,” began assuming that Plaintiffs’ product was 

a copy-cat or knockoff, and began asking employees at The End to serve them a “Unicorn 
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Frappuccino.”  Starbucks’ products began appearing on social media labeled with the hashtag 

#unicornlatte, online publications began referring to Starbucks’ products as Unicorn Lattes, and 

Plaintiffs’ Unicorn Latte—while still occasionally mentioned—was reduced to an “also ran” 

anecdote to Starbucks’ Unicorn Frappuccino.   

8. While Starbucks’ product has been temporarily taken off the market—it was 

always intended as a limited-run item—the damage to Plaintiffs’ trademark and business 

continues and, to an extent, may well be irreparable.  Starbucks’ conduct has diluted the 

distinctive quality of Plaintiffs’ famous UNICORN LATTE mark and has and is likely to 

continue to confuse consumers into believing that Starbucks’ products are affiliated with, or are 

otherwise endorsed or approved by Plaintiffs, and vice-versa.  

9. In order to protect their valuable intellectual property, Plaintiffs bring this action 

in law and equity for (i) trademark infringement, false designation of origin, and unfair 

competition under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051 et seq.; (ii) trademark dilution under 15 

U.S.C. § 1125(c); (iii) unfair competition under the common law; (iv) trademark infringement 

and unfair compensation under New York General Business Law § 360-k; and (v) trademark 

dilution and injury to business reputation under New York General Business Law § 360-l. 

PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff, Montauk Juice Factory Inc., is a New York-based company that 

produces and markets fresh-squeezed juices, other blended beverages, and various coffee 

products.  Montauk Juice owns and operates co-plaintiff The End Brooklyn, a coffee and 

beverage shop located in Williamsburg, Brooklyn, New York that markets and sells coffee and 

other blended beverages, including the Unicorn Latte.  Montauk Juice Factory Inc. is 

headquartered at 12 South Etna Avenue, Montauk, New York, 11954 and operates The End 
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Brooklyn, which has a business address of 522 Metropolitan Avenue, Brooklyn, New York, 

11211. 

11. Defendant Starbucks is a multi-national beverage corporation with its principal 

office at 2401 Utah Avenue South, Seattle, Washington 98134.  Starbucks operates 13,107 stores 

in the United States, 897 of which are in New York State and 361 are in New York City.  

Starbucks also operates approximately 2,000 stores in Canada and Mexico, through its corporate 

subsidiaries. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

12. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 

1121, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338 with respect to the claims arising under federal law and 

supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 and 28 U.S.C. § 1338(b) with respect to 

the claims arising under the laws of New York State.  

13. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Starbucks because, inter alia, Starbucks 

regularly conducts business in New York through the 897 stores it operates and has offered and 

sold its infringing Unicorn Frappuccino products in New York.  Starbucks’ actions have caused 

injury to Plaintiff and to consumers in New York. 

14. Venue in this county is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because defendants 

conduct or have conducted business in this judicial district and Plaintiffs have suffered injury in 

this district, and because this Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants in this district. 
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FACTS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

The End creates and markets the Unicorn Latte 

15. On July 20, 2016, Montauk Juice opened The End in Williamsburg in order to 

have a prominent retail space to sell new creative coffee and blended beverages that they invent.  

The store sells healthy, colorful beverages such as the Radiance Beauty and the Bonfire Cider. 

16. Madeline Murphy, a co-owner of Montauk Juice and the manager of The End, 

creates healthy blended beverages that taste great.  Her greatest invention thus far is the 

UNICORN LATTE, a healthy, unique, colorful, blended beverage, which she began developing 

in the springtime of 2016.   

17. The Unicorn Latte does not contain cow’s milk, processed sugar, or food dye.   

Instead, the Unicorn Latte contains a number of superfoods, which are embraced by the wellness 

community for their “magical” healing properties.  The “Unicorn” in Unicorn Latte is meant to 

evoke in the consumer’s mind the magical characteristics associated with the mythical creature.  

The colorful look of the Unicorn Latte is, in part, meant to play on the pop-culture association of 

unicorns with bright or pastel colors and, in part, because the Unicorn Latte fits with the current 

trend of colorful foods—a relatively recent interest, particularly on the Internet, with multi-

colored foods that includes Unicorn Noodles, Rainbow Bagels, Mermaid Toast, and even 

Unicorn Poop. 

18. Ms. Murphy’s partners at Montauk Juice recognized how special her creation was 

and developed a marketing strategy for a launch of the Unicorn Latte.  After six months of 

development and consumer testing, The End launched the Unicorn Latte on their menu, officially 

offering it for sale around December 2016. 
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19. On December 19, 2016, the New York Times Style Magazine published an article 

about the Unicorn Latte, including a photograph of the product and a list of its ingredients.  More 

press followed, with the Huffington Post, TimeOut Magazine, Metro UK, Lonely Planet, and 

many more online publications writing articles.  New York Live TV and NBC New York 

promoted, and continue to promote, the Unicorn Latte on the televisions in back of New York 

City taxi cabs. 

20. Owing to a combination of deliberate marketing by Plaintiffs and word-of-mouth 

or viral marketing, the Unicorn Latte quickly became popular on social media such as Facebook 

and Instagram.  Indeed, the hashtag #unicornlatte contains many pictures of the Unicorn Latte 

posted by various individuals.  As one publication, AM New York, noted: “The End’s Unicorn 

Latte is made for Instagram.” 

21. Since its launch, the Unicorn Latte has generated significant revenue for The End, 

accounting for approximately 25% of the store’s revenue since January 2017.   

22. In response to the demand for the Unicorn Latte, the recently-generated press, and 

the fame that the Unicorn Latte had attained, Montauk Juice Factory Inc. submitted a TEAS Plus 

Application for the UNICORN LATTE Trademark on January 20, 2017, which is attached as 

Exhibit A.   

Starbucks’ massive Unicorn Frappuccino launch eclipses the Unicorn Latte 

23. In mid-April 2017, while The End’s Unicorn Latte was enjoying success and 

widespread coverage, rumors began to circulate that Starbucks was planning a launch of its own 

multi-colored beverage in the form of a “Unicorn Frappuccino.” 

24. On April 18, 2017, Starbucks announced that its Unicorn Frappuccino would be 

available for a limited time in a press release titled “Starbucks Weaves its Magic with New Color 

Case 1:17-cv-02678   Document 1   Filed 05/03/17   Page 7 of 18 PageID #: 7



8 

and Flavor Changing Unicorn Frappuccino.”  Aside from the similar name, the new drink, like 

the Unicorn Latte, was brightly colored—featuring pink and blue prominently—and included the 

addition of powdered topping which was reminiscent of the Unicorn Latte’s decoration.  As a 

result, Starbucks’ Unicorn Frappuccino presented itself as a deceptively similar beverage to the 

Unicorn Latte in both name and appearance: 

  

Unicorn Latte Unicorn Frappuccino 
 

25. Starbucks’ Unicorn Frappuccino press release also made no secret about 

Starbucks’ intention to establish its deceptively similar beverage as the main (if not the only) 

“unicorn” beverage on social media.  In fact, Starbucks explicitly bragged:  “Once only found in 

enchanted forests, unicorns have been popping up in social media with shimmering unicorn-

themed food and drinks.  Now Starbucks is taking the trend to a new level with the first Unicorn 

Frappuccino® blended beverage . . . .”  In effect, Starbucks announced that its Unicorn 
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Frappuccino was created with the intent of achieving broad exposure on social media; yet 

another point of similarity with the Unicorn Latte, a beverage that was “made for Instagram.” 

26. Critically, while Starbucks does not directly mention the Unicorn Latte in its 

release, the reference to “unicorn-themed food and drinks” and Plaintiffs’ outstanding USPTO 

application for the Unicorn Latte demonstrate that Starbucks was well aware that it was 

launching a product that was deceptively and confusingly similar to The End’s in name, 

appearance, and intended publicity channels. 

27. Nobody from Starbucks reached out to the owners or management of Montauk 

Juice, The End, or any of their representatives to inquire about the use of the mark.  Moreover, 

Starbucks disregarded the Trademark Application on file with the USPTO, despite the 

application being publicly available via the USPTO website, including as a result of searches for 

marks that include the word “unicorn.” 

28. On April 19, 2017, Starbucks executed its carefully planned strategy to begin 

selling and aggressively marketing the Unicorn Frappuccino in participating stores throughout 

the United States, including in New York City, as well as Canada and Mexico.   

Starbucks’ Unicorn Frappuccino causes widespread consumer confusion 

29. Almost immediately, consumers became confused over the origination and 

affiliation of the Unicorn Frappuccino.  On Instagram, the hashtag #unicornlatte began to be 

populated with pictures of Starbucks’ Unicorn Frappuccino.  Comments on Instagram show 

evidence of consumer confusion as to the origination of the blended beverage, with many people 

believing that Starbucks invented the beverage.   

30. The coordinated social media blitz orchestrated by Starbucks drowned out the 

fame that any coffee shop in Brooklyn could obtain.  Press outlets immediately picked up the 
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story and reinforced the consumer confusion over the origination of the Unicorn blended 

beverage that had already begun. Some media outlets recognized The End as the creator of the 

Unicorn blended beverage, but many did not and instead focused on how aesthetically attractive 

the Starbucks drink was for social media.   

31. Individuals previously aware of the Unicorn Latte became confused about 

whether Starbucks’ Unicorn Frappuccino was the same healthy concoction developed by the 

Plaintiffs and if it had been licensed to Starbucks.  

32. Confused by the ubiquity of Defendant’s products, especially on social media, 

individuals who were not previously aware of the Unicorn Latte now believe that Starbucks’ 

Unicorn Frappuccino came first and that The End’s Unicorn Latte was inspired by Starbucks’ 

Unicorn Frappuccino.  Ms. Murphy now regularly gets asked at The End whether the Unicorn 

Latte was inspired by Starbucks.   

33. Media outlets and individuals on social media referred to the Starbucks’ 

Frappuccino as a Unicorn Latte:  

a. “Starbucks Puts Unicorn Latte On Menu” is the title of a YouTube video by 

Chasing News, who is a contributor to My9 in New Jersey, Fox29 Philly, and Fox 
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5 WNYW:                      

 

b. Individuals posting to Instagram and other social media outlets refer to Starbucks’ 

Unicorn Frappuccino as a Unicorn Latte and use the hashtag, #unicornlatte:
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34. This widespread confusion was made worse by the derision and ridicule that 

Starbucks’ Unicorn Frappuccino encountered upon launch.  For example, People Magazine 

broadly proclaimed that Katy Perry, a world-renowned recording artist and marketing icon, 

“Spits Out Starbucks’ Unicorn Frappuccino After One Sip.”  Likewise, social media posts began 

appearing that chastised Starbucks for their “Unicorn Latte,” including:  “Forget the gross 

#UnicornLatte from @Starbucks!  Try making these for a #healthy treat . . . .”  Thus, consumers 

who would have been interested in the Unicorn Latte because of the health benefits of the 

beverage now associate it with the unhealthy ingredients of Starbucks’ “Unicorn Frappuccino” 

and are deterred from trying it.  Customers who would have been drawn to the Unicorn Latte’s 

popularity on social media including through the #unicornlatte hashtag now associate it with a 

much larger social media conversation—much of which is critical of the Unicorn Frappuccino 

and those that post about it.  

35. As a result, the Unicorn Latte sold by The End has suffered, and continues to 

suffer, brand dilution and tarnishment.   The consumer confusion ruins the goodwill associated 

with the UNICORN LATTE brand that Plaintiffs worked so hard to achieve. 

Plaintiffs seek to protect their valuable intellectual property 

36. On April 24, 2017, counsel for Plaintiffs sent Defendant a cease-and-desist letter, 

notifying Defendant of the enormous damage caused by its infringement on Plaintiffs’ mark.  

Defendant responded by, first, claiming that Plaintiffs did not have a protectable mark, second, 

threatening to oppose Plaintiffs’ application with the USPTO, and third, offering token 

concessions such as not marketing a product using the exact name “Unicorn Latte” or offering a 

juice product with the word “unicorn” in its name. 
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37. Starbucks’ purported concessions were plainly inadequate.  To begin with, 

Starbucks has already earned millions of dollars from its infringement and caused irreparable 

harm to Plaintiffs’ valuable UNICORN LATTE mark; Plaintiffs’ immediate concern was not that 

Starbucks would launch a Unicorn Latte but the use of Unicorn Frappuccino as a product name.  

Second, Starbucks’ press release suggested that their Unicorn Frappuccino product could return 

to the market at some later date, given that it was only the “first Starbucks Frappuccino® 

blended beverage . . . .”  Finally, despite their offer, online news and social media posts have 

already begun circulating rumors and actual photos of a “Unicorn Lemonade” product, with at 

least one article stating: “Now, Starbucks Baristas are making ‘Unicorn Lemonade.’”  

38. To be sure, Plaintiffs have been policing its mark since launching the Unicorn 

Latte in 2016.  In fact, Starbucks was not the first to infringe on the UNICORN LATTE mark.  A 

beverage shop in Times Square began selling a “Unicorn Latte” in March 2017.  Promptly, Jason 

Foscolo on behalf of Montauk Juice sent a cease and desist letter demanding that they stop 

selling the Unicorn Latte or change the name of the beverage. The beverage shop immediately 

responded by changing the name of their colorfully blended beverage.   

39. Unless the relief requested is granted, Starbucks’ ill-gotten gains will have been 

achieved through unlawful means that have already caused and will continue to cause irreparable 

harm to Plaintiffs’ intellectual property and harm the goodwill that had been accomplished 

through ingenuity and hard work. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
Federal Trademark Infringement, Federal Unfair Competition, and False Designation of Origin 

Under The Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051 et seq. 

40. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the 

foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint. 
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41. Plaintiffs possess valid and enforceable rights in the UNICORN LATTE mark in 

connection with all of the goods and services at issue in this case by virtue of their extensive use, 

registration, promotion, and advertisement of the UNICORN LATTE mark, and have possessed 

such rights at all times material hereto. 

42. By virtue of its extensive use, registration, advertising, promotion, and consumer 

and marketplace recognition, the UNICORN LATTE mark is famous and distinctive, and is 

entitled to protection against likely dilution by blurring and by tarnishment. 

43. Starbucks commenced the activities complained of herein after the UNICORN 

LATTE mark had become famous. 

44. Starbucks’ conduct is willful, deliberate, in bad faith, and undertaken with 

knowledge of Plaintiffs’ prior rights, and with full knowledge that Starbucks has no right, 

license, or authority to use Plaintiffs’ trademark or any confusingly similar variant thereof, 

including Unicorn Frappuccino. 

45. Defendant’s unauthorized use of the Plaintiffs’ marks is likely to cause confusion, 

or to cause mistake, or to deceive as to the sponsorship, affiliation, connection, or association of 

Defendant or Defendant’s commercial activities with Plaintiffs or Plaintiffs’ commercial 

activities, or as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of Defendant’s services or commercial 

activities by the Plaintiffs. 

46. Defendant’s aforementioned acts constitute willful violation of Plaintiffs’ marks 

in violation of the Lanham Act, Sections 32 and 43, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1114, 1125. 

47. By such wrongful acts, Defendant has caused, and unless restrained by the Court 

under 15 U.S.C. § 1116 will continue to cause, serious irreparable injury and damage to 
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Plaintiffs and to the goodwill associated with Plaintiffs’ marks.  This harm constitutes an injury 

for which Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
Trademark Dilution under the Lanham Act 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)  

48. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the 

foregoing paragraphs. 

49. Defendant’s aforementioned acts constitute trademark dilution in violation of the 

Lanham Act, Section 43(c), 15 U.S.C. § l 125(c). 

50. By such wrongful acts, Defendant has caused, and unless restrained by the Court 

will continue to cause, serious irreparable injury and damage to plaintiff and to the goodwill 

associated with the Plaintiffs’ marks.  Plaintiffs are without an adequate remedy at law. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
Common Law Trademark Infringement 

51. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the 

foregoing paragraphs. 

52. Defendant’s aforementioned acts constitute unfair competition under the common 

law.   

53. By such wrongful acts, Defendant has caused, and unless restrained by the Court 

will continue to cause, serious irreparable injury and damage to Plaintiffs and to the goodwill 

associated with the Plaintiffs’ marks. Plaintiffs are without an adequate remedy at law. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
New York Trademark Infringement and  

Unfair Competition N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law§ 360-k 

54. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the 

foregoing paragraphs. 
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55. Defendant’s aforementioned acts constitute willful violation of Plaintiffs’ marks 

in violation of the N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law§ 360-k. 

56. By such wrongful acts, Defendant has caused, and unless restrained by the Court 

will continue to cause, serious irreparable injury and damage to plaintiff and to the goodwill 

associated with the Plaintiffs’ marks. Plaintiffs are without an adequate remedy at law. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
New York Trademark Dilution and  

Injury to Business Reputation N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law§ 360-l 

57. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the 

foregoing paragraphs. 

58. Defendant’s aforementioned acts constitute willful violation of Plaintiffs’ marks 

in violation of the N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law§ 360-l. 

59. By such wrongful acts, Defendant has caused, and unless restrained by the Court 

will continue to cause, serious irreparable injury and damage to Plaintiffs and to the goodwill 

associated with the Plaintiffs’ marks. Plaintiffs are without an adequate remedy at law. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

60. Plaintiffs are a direct competitor of Starbucks.  Starbucks’ actions described 

above are likely to mislead consumers about the nature, quality, characteristics, and/or source of 

its products and divert customers from The End to Starbucks.  Starbucks’ conduct has caused and 

is causing irreparable injury to Plaintiffs and, unless enjoined by the Court, will continue both to 

damage Plaintiffs and to deceive the public. This harm constitutes an injury for which Plaintiffs 

have no adequate remedy at law. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment as follows: 

1. Enter judgment in favor of Plaintiffs on all counts; 
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2. Enter a permanent injunction restraining Starbucks and its officers, directors, 

employees, agents, affiliates, successors, assigns, franchisees, licensees, and all those in privity 

or acting in concert with them: 

a. From in any way diluting, using, displaying, advertising, copying, 
imitating, or infringing upon the UNICORN LATTE mark, including by 
using the UNICORN FRAPPUCCINO mark; 

b. From using or displaying the UNICORN LATTE mark or confusingly 
similar variations thereof, including without limitation the UNICORN 
FRAPPUCCINO mark, on or in connection with any products or in any 
written, oral, or audiovisual advertisements, displays, signs, sales 
promotions, the Internet, or in any other public communication in 
connection with Starbucks goods or services; 

c. From otherwise diluting or infringing upon Plaintiffs’ UNICORN LATTE; 

d. From otherwise unfairly competing with Plaintiffs; 

3. Order that Starbucks account and pay over to Plaintiffs all gains, profits, and 

advantages derived from the conduct alleged herein, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117 and other 

applicable law; 

4. Order that Starbucks pay Plaintiffs the damages that Plaintiffs has sustained by 

reason of the conduct alleged herein; 

5. Order that Starbucks pay Plaintiffs enhanced damages as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 

1117 and other applicable law; 

6. Order that Starbucks pay pre-judgment interest on Plaintiffs’ damages as provided 

by 15 U.S.C. §1117 and other applicable law; 

7. Order that Starbucks pay the costs of this action as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1117 

and other applicable law; 

8. Order that Starbucks pay the attorneys’ fees as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1117 and 

other applicable law; and 
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9. Order that Starbucks be directed to deliver to the Clerk of this Court for 

destruction, or show proof of destruction, of any and all products, signs, advertisements, 

publications, labels, and any and all other materials in their possession, custody, or control that 

depict or relate to the development, marketing, or sale of the Unicorn Frappuccino, Unicorn 

Lemonade, or any other of products that infringe on Plaintiffs’ mark in accordance with 15 

U.S.C. § 1118.   

10. Order that Starbucks publish for a period of six (6) months on a website and in 

print media a statement correcting the confusion as to the unlawful use of the mark and the 

origination of the UNICORN LATTE. 

11. Grant such other and further relief as is just and proper.  

JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury on all issues triable of right by a jury which are raised for 

determination.  

Dated:  New York, New York   Respectfully Submitted, 
  May 3, 2017 

/s/ Joshua I. Schiller     
 
Joshua I. Schiller 
Benjamin Margulis 
Demetri Blaisdell 
Alexander Boies 
BOIES SCHILLER FLEXNER LLP 
575 Lexington Avenue, 7th Floor 
New York, New York 10022 
Tel: (212) 446-2300 
jischiller@bsfllp.com  
bmargulis@bsfllp.com  
dblaisdell@bsfllp.com  
aboies@bsfllp.com  
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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’ 140 Negotiable Instrument   Liability ’ 367 Health Care/ ’ 400 State Reapportionment
’ 150 Recovery of Overpayment ’ 320 Assault, Libel &  Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS ’ 410 Antitrust

 & Enforcement of Judgment   Slander  Personal Injury ’ 820 Copyrights ’ 430 Banks and Banking
’ 151 Medicare Act ’ 330 Federal Employers’  Product Liability ’ 830 Patent ’ 450 Commerce
’ 152 Recovery of Defaulted   Liability ’ 368 Asbestos Personal ’ 840 Trademark ’ 460 Deportation

 Student Loans ’ 340 Marine   Injury Product ’ 470 Racketeer Influenced and
 (Excludes Veterans) ’ 345 Marine Product   Liability LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY  Corrupt Organizations

’ 153 Recovery of Overpayment   Liability   PERSONAL PROPERTY ’ 710 Fair Labor Standards ’ 861 HIA (1395ff) ’ 480 Consumer Credit
 of Veteran’s Benefits ’ 350 Motor Vehicle ’ 370 Other Fraud   Act ’ 862 Black Lung (923) ’ 490 Cable/Sat TV

’ 160 Stockholders’ Suits ’ 355 Motor Vehicle ’ 371 Truth in Lending ’ 720 Labor/Management ’ 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) ’ 850 Securities/Commodities/
’ 190 Other Contract  Product Liability ’ 380 Other Personal   Relations ’ 864 SSID Title XVI   Exchange
’ 195 Contract Product Liability ’ 360 Other Personal  Property Damage ’ 740 Railway Labor Act ’ 865 RSI (405(g)) ’ 890 Other Statutory Actions
’ 196 Franchise  Injury ’ 385 Property Damage ’ 751 Family and Medical ’ 891 Agricultural Acts

’ 362 Personal Injury -  Product Liability   Leave Act ’ 893 Environmental Matters
 Medical Malpractice ’ 790 Other Labor Litigation ’ 895 Freedom of Information

 REAL PROPERTY    CIVIL RIGHTS   PRISONER PETITIONS ’ 791 Employee Retirement FEDERAL TAX SUITS   Act
’ 210 Land Condemnation ’ 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus:  Income Security Act ’ 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff ’ 896 Arbitration
’ 220 Foreclosure ’ 441 Voting ’ 463 Alien Detainee   or Defendant) ’ 899 Administrative Procedure
’ 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment ’ 442 Employment ’ 510 Motions to Vacate ’ 871 IRS—Third Party  Act/Review or Appeal of
’ 240 Torts to Land ’ 443 Housing/  Sentence   26 USC 7609  Agency Decision
’ 245 Tort Product Liability  Accommodations ’ 530 General ’ 950 Constitutionality of
’ 290 All Other Real Property ’ 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - ’ 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION  State Statutes

 Employment Other: ’ 462 Naturalization Application
’ 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - ’ 540 Mandamus & Other ’ 465 Other Immigration

 Other ’ 550 Civil Rights        Actions
’ 448 Education ’ 555 Prison Condition

’ 560 Civil Detainee -
 Conditions of 
 Confinement

V.  ORIGIN (Place an “X” in One Box Only)
’ 1 Original

Proceeding
’ 2 Removed from

State Court
’  3 Remanded from

Appellate Court
’ 4 Reinstated or

Reopened
’  5 Transferred from

Another District
(specify)

’  6 Multidistrict
Litigation -
Transfer

’ 8  Multidistrict
    Litigation -         

 Direct File

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION
Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):

Brief description of cause:

VII. REQUESTED IN
COMPLAINT:

’ CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION
UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P.

DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:
JURY DEMAND: ’ Yes ’ No

VIII. RELATED CASE(S)
IF ANY (See instructions):

JUDGE DOCKET NUMBER
DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE
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Local Arbitration Rule 83.10 provides that with certain exceptions, actions seeking money damages only in an amount not in excess of $150,000,
exclusive of interest and costs, are eligible for compulsory arbitration.  The amount of damages is presumed to be below the threshold amount unless a
certification to the contrary is filed.     

I, ______________________, counsel for __________________, do hereby certify that the above captioned civil action is
ineligible for compulsory arbitration for the following reason(s):

monetary damages sought are in excess of $150,000, exclusive of  interest and costs,  

the complaint seeks injunctive relief,

the matter is otherwise ineligible for the following reason

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT - FEDERAL RULES CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1

Identify any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation that owns 10% or more or its stocks:

RELATED CASE STATEMENT (Section VIII on the Front of this Form)

Please list all cases that are arguably related pursuant to Division of Business Rule 50.3.1 in Section VIII on the front of this form. Rule 50.3.1 (a)
provides that “A civil case is “related” to another civil case for purposes of this guideline when, because of the similarity of facts and legal issues or
because the cases arise from the same transactions or events, a substantial saving of judicial resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to the
same judge and magistrate judge.” Rule 50.3.1 (b) provides that “ A civil case shall not be deemed “related” to another civil case merely because the civil
case: (A) involves identical legal issues, or (B) involves the same parties.” Rule 50.3.1 (c) further provides that “Presumptively, and subject to the power
of a judge to determine otherwise pursuant to paragraph (d), civil cases shall not be deemed to be “related” unless both cases are still pending before the
court.”

NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 50.1(d)(2)

1.) Is the civil action being filed in the Eastern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk
County:_________________________

2.) If you answered “no” above:
a) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk
County?_________________________

b) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the Eastern
District?_________________________

If your answer to question 2 (b) is “No,” does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or
Suffolk County, or, in an interpleader action, does the claimant (or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau
or Suffolk County?______________________

(Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts).

BAR ADMISSION

I am currently admitted in the Eastern District of New York and currently a member in good standing of the bar of this court.
Yes No 

Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action (s) in this or any other state or federal court?
Yes (If yes, please explain) No 

I certify the accuracy of all information provided above.

Signature:____________________________________________
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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Mark Information
Mark Literal

Elements:
UNICORN LATTE

Standard Character
Claim:

Yes. The mark consists of standard characters without claim to any particular font style, size, or color.

Mark Drawing
Type:

4 - STANDARD CHARACTER MARK

Goods and Services
Note: The following symbols indicate that the registrant/owner has amended the goods/services:

Brackets [..] indicate deleted goods/services;
Double parenthesis ((..)) identify any goods/services not claimed in a Section 15 affidavit of incontestability; and
Asterisks *..* identify additional (new) wording in the goods/services.

For: Fruit juice; Fruit juices; Fruit juices and fruit drinks; Herbal juices; Vegetable juice; Vegetable juices; Vegetable-fruit juices

International
Class(es):

032 - Primary Class U.S Class(es): 045, 046, 048

Class Status: ACTIVE

Basis: 1(a)

First Use: Oct. 01, 2016 Use in Commerce: Oct. 01, 2016

Basis Information (Case Level)
Filed Use: Yes Currently Use: Yes Amended Use: No

Filed ITU: No Currently ITU: No Amended ITU: No

Filed 44D: No Currently 44D: No Amended 44D: No

Filed 44E: No Currently 44E: No Amended 44E: No

Filed 66A: No Currently 66A: No

Filed No Basis: No Currently No Basis: No

Current Owner(s) Information
Owner Name: Montauk Juice Factory

Owner Address: 12 South Etna Ave
Montauk, NEW YORK 11954
UNITED STATES

Legal Entity Type: LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY State or Country
Where Organized:

NEW YORK

Generated on: This page was generated by TSDR on 2017-05-01 12:30:50 EDT

Mark: UNICORN LATTE

US Serial Number: 87308906 Application Filing
Date:

Jan. 20, 2017

Filed as TEAS
Plus:

Yes Currently TEAS
Plus:

Yes

Register: Principal

Mark Type: Trademark

Status: A non-final Office action has been sent (issued) to the applicant. This is a letter from the examining attorney requiring additional
information and/or making an initial refusal. The applicant must respond to this Office action. To view all documents in this file, click on
the Trademark Document Retrieval link at the top of this page.

Status Date: Apr. 17, 2017
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Attorney/Correspondence Information
Attorney of Record

Attorney Name: Jason Foscolo

Attorney Primary
Email Address:

info@foodlawfirm.com Attorney Email
Authorized:

Yes

Correspondent
Correspondent
Name/Address:

JASON FOSCOLO
JASON FOSCOLO PLLC
PO BOX 378
INFO@FOODLAWFIRM.COM
RED HOOK, NEW YORK 12571
UNITED STATES

Phone: 8005594628

Correspondent e-
mail:

info@foodlawfirm.com Correspondent e-
mail Authorized:

Yes

Domestic Representative - Not Found

Prosecution History

Date Description Proceeding
Number

Apr. 17, 2017 NOTIFICATION OF NON-FINAL ACTION E-MAILED 6325
Apr. 17, 2017 NON-FINAL ACTION E-MAILED 6325
Apr. 17, 2017 NON-FINAL ACTION WRITTEN 78484
Apr. 17, 2017 ASSIGNED TO EXAMINER 78484
Jan. 26, 2017 NEW APPLICATION OFFICE SUPPLIED DATA ENTERED IN TRAM
Jan. 24, 2017 NEW APPLICATION ENTERED IN TRAM

TM Staff and Location Information
TM Staff Information

TM Attorney: HOLTZ, ALLISON A Law Office
Assigned:

LAW OFFICE 111

File Location
Current Location: TMO LAW OFFICE 111 - EXAMINING

ATTORNEY ASSIGNED
Date in Location: Apr. 17, 2017
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To: Montauk Juice Factory (info@foodlawfirm.com)

Subject: U.S. TRADEMARK APPLICATION NO. 87308906 - UNICORN LATTE - N/A

Sent: 4/17/2017 5:21:26 PM

Sent As: ECOM111@USPTO.GOV

Attachments:

UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE (USPTO)
OFFICE ACTION (OFFICIAL LETTER) ABOUT APPLICANT’S TRADEMARK APPLICATION

 
U.S. APPLICATION SERIAL NO.  87308906
 
MARK: UNICORN LATTE
 

 
        

*87308906*
CORRESPONDENT ADDRESS:
       JASON FOSCOLO
       JASON FOSCOLO PLLC
       PO BOX 378
       INFO@FOODLAWFIRM.COM
       RED HOOK, NY 12571

 
CLICK HERE TO RESPOND TO THIS LETTER:
http://www.uspto.gov/trademarks/teas/response_forms.jsp
 
VIEW YOUR APPLICATION FILE
 

APPLICANT: Montauk Juice Factory
 

 
 

CORRESPONDENT’S REFERENCE/DOCKET NO :  
       N/A
CORRESPONDENT E-MAIL ADDRESS: 
       info@foodlawfirm.com

 

 
 

OFFICE ACTION
 

STRICT DEADLINE TO RESPOND TO THIS LETTER
TO AVOID ABANDONMENT OF APPLICANT’S TRADEMARK APPLICATION, THE USPTO MUST RECEIVE APPLICANT’S
COMPLETE RESPONSE TO THIS LETTER WITHIN 6 MONTHS OF THE ISSUE/MAILING DATE BELOW.  A RESPONSE
TRANSMITTED THROUGH THE TRADEMARK ELECTRONIC APPLICATION SYSTEM (TEAS) MUST BE RECEIVED BEFORE
MIDNIGHT EASTERN TIME OF THE LAST DAY OF THE RESPONSE PERIOD.
 
 
ISSUE/MAILING DATE: 4/17/2017
 
 
TEAS PLUS OR TEAS REDUCED FEE (TEAS RF) APPLICANTS – TO MAINTAIN LOWER FEE, ADDITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS MUST BE MET, INCLUDING SUBMITTING DOCUMENTS ONLINE: Applicants who filed their application
online using the lower-fee TEAS Plus or TEAS RF application form must (1) file certain documents online using TEAS, including responses to
Office actions (see TMEP §§819.02(b), 820.02(b) for a complete list of these documents); (2) maintain a valid e-mail correspondence address;
and (3) agree to receive correspondence from the USPTO by e-mail throughout the prosecution of the application. See 37 C.F.R. §§2.22(b),
2.23(b); TMEP §§819, 820. TEAS Plus or TEAS RF applicants who do not meet these requirements must submit an additional processing fee of
$125 per class of goods and/or services. 37 C.F.R. §§2.6(a)(1)(v), 2.22(c), 2.23(c); TMEP §§819.04, 820.04. However, in certain situations,
TEAS Plus or TEAS RF applicants may respond to an Office action by authorizing an examiner’s amendment by telephone or e-mail without
incurring this additional fee.  
 
 
The referenced application has been reviewed by the assigned trademark examining attorney.
 
 
No Conflicting Marks  
The examining attorney has searched the Office records and has found no similar registered or pending mark which would bar registration under
Trademark Act Section 2(d), 15 U.S.C. §1052(d).  TMEP §704.02.
 
However, the applicant must address the following informality.

Case 1:17-cv-02678   Document 1-3   Filed 05/03/17   Page 4 of 19 PageID #: 26

mailto:info@foodlawfirm.com
http://www.uspto.gov/trademarks/teas/response_forms.jsp
http://tsdr.uspto.gov/#caseNumber=87308906&caseType=SERIAL_NO&searchType=documentSearch


 
 
Disclaimer
Applicant must disclaim the word “ LATTE” because it merely describes an ingredient, quality, characteristic, function, feature, purpose, or use
of applicant’s goods and/or services, and thus is an unregistrable component of the mark. See 15 U.S.C. §§1052(e)(1), 1056(a); DuoProSS
Meditech Corp. v. Inviro Med. Devices, Ltd., 695 F.3d 1247, 1251, 103 USPQ2d 1753, 1755 (Fed. Cir. 2012) (quoting In re Oppedahl & Larson
LLP, 373 F.3d 1171, 1173, 71 USPQ2d 1370, 1371 (Fed. Cir. 2004)); TMEP §§1213, 1213.03(a). 
 
The specimen of use identifies the goods as “lattes.”   Therefore, the word is merely descriptive of the goods.
 
An applicant may not claim exclusive rights to terms that others may need to use to describe their goods and/or services in the marketplace. See
Dena Corp. v. Belvedere Int’l, Inc., 950 F.2d 1555, 1560, 21 USPQ2d 1047, 1051 (Fed. Cir. 1991); In re Aug. Storck KG, 218 USPQ 823, 825
(TTAB 1983). A disclaimer of unregistrable matter does not affect the appearance of the mark; that is, a disclaimer does not physically remove
the disclaimed matter from the mark. See Schwarzkopf v. John H. Breck, Inc., 340 F.2d 978, 978, 144 USPQ 433, 433 (C.C.P.A. 1965); TMEP
§1213. 
 
If applicant does not provide the required disclaimer, the USPTO may refuse to register the entire mark. See In re Stereotaxis Inc., 429 F.3d
1039, 1040-41, 77 USPQ2d 1087, 1088-89 (Fed. Cir. 2005); TMEP §1213.01(b).
 
Applicant should submit a disclaimer in the following standardized format:
 

No claim is made to the exclusive right to use “LATTE” apart from the mark as shown.
 
For an overview of disclaimers and instructions on how to satisfy this disclaimer requirement online using the Trademark Electronic Application
System (TEAS) form, please go to http://www.uspto.gov/trademarks/law/disclaimer.jsp.
 
 
Questions Regarding Office Action
If applicant has questions regarding this Office action, please telephone or e-mail the assigned trademark examining attorney. All relevant e-
mail communications will be placed in the official application record; however, an e-mail communication will not be accepted as a response to
this Office action and will not extend the deadline for filing a proper response. See 37 C.F.R. §§2.62(c), 2.191; TMEP §§304.01-.02, 709.04-
.05. Further, although the trademark examining attorney may provide additional explanation pertaining to the refusal(s) and/or requirement(s) in
this Office action, the trademark examining attorney may not provide legal advice or statements about applicant’s rights. See TMEP §§705.02,
709.06.
 
 
 

/allison holtz/
Allison Holtz
Trademark Attorney
Law Office 111
allison.holtz@uspto.gov (preferred)
571.272.9383

 
TO RESPOND TO THIS LETTER:  Go to http://www.uspto.gov/trademarks/teas/response_forms.jsp.  Please wait 48-72 hours from the
issue/mailing date before using the Trademark Electronic Application System (TEAS), to allow for necessary system updates of the application. 
For technical assistance with online forms, e-mail TEAS@uspto.gov.  For questions about the Office action itself, please contact the assigned
trademark examining attorney.  E-mail communications will not be accepted as responses to Office actions; therefore, do not respond to
this Office action by e-mail.
 
All informal e-mail communications relevant to this application will be placed in the official application record.
 
WHO MUST SIGN THE RESPONSE:  It must be personally signed by an individual applicant or someone with legal authority to bind an
applicant (i.e., a corporate officer, a general partner, all joint applicants).  If an applicant is represented by an attorney, the attorney must sign the
response. 
 
PERIODICALLY CHECK THE STATUS OF THE APPLICATION:  To ensure that applicant does not miss crucial deadlines or official
notices, check the status of the application every three to four months using the Trademark Status and Document Retrieval (TSDR) system at
http://tsdr.uspto.gov/.  Please keep a copy of the TSDR status screen.  If the status shows no change for more than six months, contact the
Trademark Assistance Center by e-mail at TrademarkAssistanceCenter@uspto.gov or call 1-800-786-9199.  For more information on checking
status, see http://www.uspto.gov/trademarks/process/status/.
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TO UPDATE CORRESPONDENCE/E-MAIL ADDRESS:  Use the TEAS form at http://www.uspto.gov/trademarks/teas/correspondence.jsp.
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To: Montauk Juice Factory (info@foodlawfirm.com)

Subject: U.S. TRADEMARK APPLICATION NO. 87308906 - UNICORN LATTE - N/A

Sent: 4/17/2017 5:21:28 PM

Sent As: ECOM111@USPTO.GOV

Attachments:

UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE (USPTO)
 
 

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING YOUR
U.S. TRADEMARK APPLICATION

 
USPTO OFFICE ACTION (OFFICIAL LETTER) HAS ISSUED

ON 4/17/2017 FOR U.S. APPLICATION SERIAL NO. 87308906
 

Please follow the instructions below:
 
(1) TO READ THE LETTER: Click on this link or go to http://tsdr.uspto.gov, enter the U.S. application serial number, and click on
“Documents.”
 
The Office action may not be immediately viewable, to allow for necessary system updates of the application, but will be available within 24
hours of this e-mail notification.
 
(2) TIMELY RESPONSE IS REQUIRED: Please carefully review the Office action to determine (1) how to respond, and (2) the applicable
response time period. Your response deadline will be calculated from 4/17/2017 (or sooner if specified in the Office action). A response
transmitted through the Trademark Electronic Application System (TEAS) must be received before midnight Eastern Time of the last day of the
response period.  For information regarding response time periods, see http://www.uspto.gov/trademarks/process/status/responsetime.jsp. 
 
Do NOT hit “Reply” to this e-mail notification, or otherwise e-mail your response because the USPTO does NOT accept e-mails as
responses to Office actions. Instead, the USPTO recommends that you respond online using the TEAS response form located at
http://www.uspto.gov/trademarks/teas/response_forms.jsp.
 
(3) QUESTIONS: For questions about the contents of the Office action itself, please contact the assigned trademark examining attorney. For
technical assistance in accessing or viewing the Office action in the Trademark Status and Document Retrieval (TSDR) system, please e-mail
TSDR@uspto.gov.
 

WARNING
 
Failure to file the required response by the applicable response deadline will result in the ABANDONMENT of your application. For
more information regarding abandonment, see http://www.uspto.gov/trademarks/basics/abandon.jsp.
 
PRIVATE COMPANY SOLICITATIONS REGARDING YOUR APPLICATION: Private companies not associated with the USPTO are
using information provided in trademark applications to mail or e-mail trademark-related solicitations. These companies often use names that
closely resemble the USPTO and their solicitations may look like an official government document. Many solicitations require that you pay
“fees.”  
 
Please carefully review all correspondence you receive regarding this application to make sure that you are responding to an official document
from the USPTO rather than a private company solicitation. All official USPTO correspondence will be mailed only from the “United States
Patent and Trademark Office” in Alexandria, VA; or sent by e-mail from the domain “@uspto.gov.”  For more information on how to handle
private company solicitations, see http://www.uspto.gov/trademarks/solicitation_warnings.jsp.
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*** User:aholtz ***
# Total Dead Live Live Status/ Search

Marks Marks Viewed Viewed Search
Docs Images Duration

01 1 0 1 1 0:01 87308906[SN]
02 165 0 165 157 0:02 *unicorn*[bi,ti] and live[ld]
03 119936 N/A 0 0 0:02 *lat*[bi,ti] and live[ld]
04 12 0 12 11 0:01 2 and 3

Session started 4/17/2017 5:06:32 PM
Session finished 4/17/2017 5:17:58 PM
Total search duration 0 minutes 6 seconds
Session duration 11 minutes 26 seconds

Defaut NEAR limit=1ADJ limit=1

Sent to TICRS as Serial Number: 87308906
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Under the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 no persons are required to respond to a collection of information unless it displays a valid OMB control number. 
PTO Form 1478 (Rev 09/2006)
OMB No. 0651-0009 (Exp 02/28/2018)

Trademark/Service Mark Application, Principal Register

TEAS Plus Application
Serial Number: 87308906
Filing Date: 01/20/2017

NOTE: Data fields with the * are mandatory under TEAS Plus. The wording "(if applicable)" appears where the field is only mandatory
under the facts of the particular application.

The table below presents the data as entered.

Input Field Entered

TEAS Plus YES

MARK INFORMATION

*MARK UNICORN LATTE

*STANDARD CHARACTERS YES

USPTO-GENERATED IMAGE YES

LITERAL ELEMENT UNICORN LATTE

*MARK STATEMENT The mark consists of standard characters, without claim to any particular font
style, size, or color.

REGISTER Principal

APPLICANT INFORMATION

*OWNER OF MARK Montauk Juice Factory

*STREET 12 South Etna Ave

*CITY Montauk

*STATE
(Required for U.S. applicants) New York

*COUNTRY United States

*ZIP/POSTAL CODE
(Required for U.S. applicants) 11954

PHONE 800-559-4628

LEGAL ENTITY INFORMATION

*TYPE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

* STATE/COUNTRY WHERE LEGALLY
ORGANIZED New York

GOODS AND/OR SERVICES AND BASIS INFORMATION

*INTERNATIONAL CLASS 032 

*IDENTIFICATION Fruit juice; Fruit juices; Fruit juices and fruit drinks; Herbal juices; Vegetable
juice; Vegetable juices; Vegetable-fruit juices

*FILING BASIS SECTION 1(a)
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       FIRST USE ANYWHERE DATE At least as early as 10/01/2016

       FIRST USE IN COMMERCE DATE At least as early as 10/01/2016

       SPECIMEN FILE NAME(S)

       ORIGINAL PDF FILE SPE0-6817593252-20170120162907769885_._The_End_Menu.pdf

       CONVERTED PDF FILE(S)
       (2 pages) \\TICRS\EXPORT17\IMAGEOUT17\873\089\87308906\xml1\FTK0003.JPG

       \\TICRS\EXPORT17\IMAGEOUT17\873\089\87308906\xml1\FTK0004.JPG

       SPECIMEN DESCRIPTION a menu listing the applicant's product on page 2

ADDITIONAL STATEMENTS INFORMATION

*TRANSLATION 
(if applicable)  

*TRANSLITERATION 
(if applicable)  

*CLAIMED PRIOR REGISTRATION
(if applicable)  

*CONSENT (NAME/LIKENESS) 
(if applicable)  

*CONCURRENT USE CLAIM 
(if applicable)  

ATTORNEY INFORMATION

NAME Jason Foscolo

FIRM NAME Jason Foscolo PLLC

INTERNAL ADDRESS info@foodlawfirm.com

STREET PO Box 378

CITY Red Hook

STATE New York

COUNTRY United States

ZIP/POSTAL CODE 12571

PHONE 8005594628

EMAIL ADDRESS info@foodlawfirm.com

AUTHORIZED TO COMMUNICATE VIA EMAIL Yes

CORRESPONDENCE INFORMATION

*NAME Jason Foscolo

FIRM NAME Jason Foscolo PLLC

INTERNAL ADDRESS info@foodlawfirm.com

*STREET PO Box 378

*CITY Red Hook

*STATE 
(Required for U.S. addresses) New York

*COUNTRY United States

*ZIP/POSTAL CODE 12571

PHONE 8005594628
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*EMAIL ADDRESS info@foodlawfirm.com

*AUTHORIZED TO COMMUNICATE VIA EMAIL Yes

FEE INFORMATION

APPLICATION FILING OPTION TEAS Plus

NUMBER OF CLASSES 1

FEE PER CLASS 225

*TOTAL FEE PAID 225

SIGNATURE INFORMATION

* SIGNATURE /Jason Foscolo/

* SIGNATORY'S NAME Jason Foscolo

* SIGNATORY'S POSITION Attorney of Record, New York State Bar Member

SIGNATORY'S PHONE NUMBER 631 903 5055

* DATE SIGNED 01/20/2017
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Under the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 no persons are required to respond to a collection of information unless it displays a valid OMB control number. 
PTO Form 1478 (Rev 09/2006)
OMB No. 0651-0009 (Exp 02/28/2018)

Trademark/Service Mark Application, Principal Register

TEAS Plus Application

Serial Number: 87308906
Filing Date: 01/20/2017

To the Commissioner for Trademarks:

MARK: UNICORN LATTE (Standard Characters, see mark)
The mark in your application is UNICORN LATTE.

The applicant, Montauk Juice Factory, a limited liability company legally organized under the laws of New York, having an address of
      12 South Etna Ave
      Montauk, New York 11954
      United States
      800-559-4628(phone)

requests registration of the trademark/service mark identified above in the United States Patent and Trademark Office on the Principal Register
established by the Act of July 5, 1946 (15 U.S.C. Section 1051 et seq.), as amended, for the following:

For specific filing basis information for each item, you must view the display within the Input Table. 
       International Class 032:  Fruit juice; Fruit juices; Fruit juices and fruit drinks; Herbal juices; Vegetable juice; Vegetable juices; Vegetable-
fruit juices

Use in Commerce: The applicant is using the mark in commerce on or in connection with the identified goods/services. The applicant attaches, or
will later submit, one specimen as a JPG/PDF image file showing the mark as used in commerce on or in connection with any item in the class of
listed goods/services, regardless of whether the mark itself is in the standard character format or is a stylized or design mark. The specimen image
file may be in color, and the image must be in color if color is being claimed as a feature of the mark.

In International Class 032, the mark was first used by the applicant or the applicant's related company or licensee predecessor in interest at least
as early as 10/01/2016, and first used in commerce at least as early as 10/01/2016, and is now in use in such commerce. The applicant is
submitting one(or more) specimen(s) showing the mark as used in commerce on or in connection with any item in the class of listed
goods/services, consisting of a(n) a menu listing the applicant's product on page 2.

Original PDF file:
SPE0-6817593252-20170120162907769885_._The_End_Menu.pdf
Converted PDF file(s) (2 pages)
Specimen File1
Specimen File2

The applicant's current Attorney Information:
      Jason Foscolo of Jason Foscolo PLLC
      info@foodlawfirm.com
      PO Box 378
      Red Hook, New York 12571
      United States
      8005594628(phone)
      info@foodlawfirm.com (authorized)

The applicant's current Correspondence Information:
      Jason Foscolo
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      Jason Foscolo PLLC
      info@foodlawfirm.com
      PO Box 378
      Red Hook, New York 12571
      8005594628(phone)
      info@foodlawfirm.com (authorized)
E-mail Authorization: I authorize the USPTO to send e-mail correspondence concerning the application to the applicant or the applicant's
attorney, or the applicant's domestic representative at the e-mail address provided in this application. I understand that a valid e-mail address
must be maintained and that the applicant or the applicant's attorney must file the relevant subsequent application-related submissions via the
Trademark Electronic Application System (TEAS). Failure to do so will result in the loss of TEAS Plus status and a requirement to submit an
additional processing fee of $125 per international class of goods/services.

A fee payment in the amount of $225 has been submitted with the application, representing payment for 1 class(es).

Declaration

If the applicant is filing the application based on use in commerce under 15 U.S.C. § 1051(a):

The signatory believes that the applicant is the owner of the trademark/service mark sought to be registered;
The mark is in use in commerce on or in connection with the goods/services in the application;
The specimen(s) shows the mark as used on or in connection with the goods/services in the application; and
The facts set forth in the application are true.

If the applicant is filing the application based on an intent to use the mark in commerce under 15 U.S.C. § 1051(b), § 1126(d),
and/or § 1126(e):

The signatory believes that the applicant is entitled to use the mark in commerce;
The applicant has a bona fide intention to use the mark in commerce on or in connection with the goods/services in the
application; and
The facts set forth in the application are true.

To the best of the signatory's knowledge and belief, no other persons, except, if applicable, concurrent users, have the right to use the
mark in commerce, either in the identical form or in such near resemblance as to be likely, when used on or in connection with the
goods/services of such other persons, to cause confusion or mistake, or to deceive.
To the best of the signatory's knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances, the
allegations and other factual contentions made above have evidentiary support.
The signatory being warned that willful false statements and the like are punishable by fine or imprisonment, or both, under 18 U.S.C. §
1001, and that such willful false statements and the like may jeopardize the validity of the application or submission or any registration
resulting therefrom, declares that all statements made of his/her own knowledge are true and that all statements made on information
and belief are believed to be true.

Declaration Signature

Signature: /Jason Foscolo/   Date: 01/20/2017
Signatory's Name: Jason Foscolo
Signatory's Position: Attorney of Record, New York State Bar Member
Signatory's Phone Number: 631 903 5055
Payment Sale Number: 87308906
Payment Accounting Date: 01/23/2017

Serial Number: 87308906
Internet Transmission Date: Fri Jan 20 17:05:37 EST 2017
TEAS Stamp: USPTO/FTK-XX.XXX.XX.XXX-2017012017053741
5871-87308906-580d9bca5f48b77e2ab3afa262
8d67a72d72f80ae4ab5bbf8499ee0b6f052e38e4
-CC-13892-20170120162907769885
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